# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/19/2020 9:37 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98979-6

(COA NO. 77888-9-I)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CANDANCE NOLL, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Donald Noll, Deceased,

Appellants,

v.

SPECIAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.,

Respondent-Petitioner,

and

AMERICAN BILTRITE, INC., et al.,

Defendants.

# RESPONDENT SPECIAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

# I. INTRODUCTION

This Court previously reversed the Court of Appeals and upheld King County Superior Court Judge Jeffrey Ramsdell's dismissal for lack of personal jurisdiction over Special Electric Company, Inc. This Court remanded for the limited purpose of determining whether personal jurisdiction existed in light of *State v. LG Electronics, Inc.*, 186 Wn.2d 169, 375 P.3d 1035 (2016), and the recently disclosed evidence of Special Electric's contacts in Washington.

On remand, Judge Ramsdell again dismissed for lack of personal jurisdiction, but the Court of Appeals later remanded for entry of findings of fact to "support" his decision. By the time of that second remand, Judge Ramsdell had retired from the bench. The superior court's presiding judge denied the parties' request to appoint Judge Ramsdell as a judge pro tempore and instead assigned the case to Judge Michael Scott. Rather than enter findings supporting Judge Ramsdell's decision, Judge Scott entered findings supporting personal jurisdiction based on an independent review of the paper-only record.

A divided Court of Appeals then reversed Judge Ramsdell's decision. Resolving an issue left open by this Court, the court adopted the "awareness" test for purposeful availment to exercise personal jurisdiction in a stream-of-commerce case over an out-of-state defendant. The court was unanimous in its adoption of that test but disagreed on whether it was satisfied; the majority deferred to Judge Scott's findings and held that it was, while the dissenting judge reviewed the paper-only record de novo

and agreed with Judge Ramsdell's conclusion that personal jurisdiction did not exist. Neither opinion addressed whether it should defer to Judge Ramsdell's decision based on a substantial-evidence review, despite the absence of supporting findings.

This Court should grant review. This case raises issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4) that this Court should decide about the appropriate standard of review of discretionary decisions and trial-court findings of fact based on paper-only records, as well as the proper scope of review where a replacement judge on remand has presumed to dispute the original judge's decision based on a different reading of the factual record, when the Court of Appeals did not remand for reconsideration of the original judge's decision and authorized only the entry of findings of fact explaining and supporting the original judge's decision. This case also raises a significant question of law under the United States Constitution about the proper test for purposeful availment to exercise personal jurisdiction over an out-of-state defendant. This question warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and 13.4(b)(4).

# II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Special Electric seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review issued on July 13, 2020, and published on August 19 (the *Decision*) (attached as App. A).

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Standards of review for discretionary decisions and factual findings based on paper-only records. Most discretionary decisions are made based on paper records, rather than live testimony.

Our appellate courts usually review those decisions under the deferential abuse-of-discretion standard, while reviewing findings of fact for substantial evidence. Even so, such decisions are sometimes subjected to de novo review on the basis that the appellate court is in as good a position as the trial court to review a paper record, and sometimes this rationale is extended to findings of fact based on paper-only records. Should this Court revisit the issue of the proper standard of review for discretionary decisions and factual findings based on paper-only records? *Yes*. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- 2. **Scope of appellate review for a predecessor judge's decision**. Should this Court decide the proper scope of review where a replacement judge on remand has presumed to enter findings of fact that conflict with the legal conclusion of the original judge, even though the Court of Appeals did not remand the decision of the original judge for reconsideration and directed the entry of findings that would explain and support the reason for the original judge's decision? *Yes.* RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- 3. Awareness versus targeting as the test to establish purposeful availment in a stream-of-commerce case. The Court of Appeals adopted an awareness test for purposeful availment to exercise personal jurisdiction in a stream-of-commerce case over a nonresident defendant. That test is at odds with the U.S. Supreme Court's recent decision in *Bristol-Myers Squibb*, which revived federalism as a due-process limitation on state courts' exercising personal jurisdiction over nonresident defendants. Should this Court decide whether awareness or targeting is the proper test to be applied in stream-of-commerce cases to prove purposeful availment for personal jurisdiction? *Yes.* RAP 13.4(b)(3).

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying facts are set forth in detail in several published decisions of the Washington appellate courts.<sup>1</sup> Special Electric discusses only those facts relevant to the issues raised in this petition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Noll v. Am. Biltrite, Inc., 188 Wn. App. 572, 355 P.3d 279 (2015); Noll v. Am. Biltrite Inc., 188 Wn.2d 402, 395 P.3d 1021 (2017); Noll v. Special Elec. Co., 9 Wn. App. 2d 317, 444 P.3d 33 (2019); Noll v. Special Elec. Co., \_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_, 471 P.3d 247 (2020).

A. After remand from this Court and following an evidentiary hearing, the trial court (Hon. Jeffrey Ramsdell, King County Superior Court) re-affirmed its prior dismissal of Noll's claims for lack of personal jurisdiction over Special Electric, concluding that Noll did not meet her burden to establish purposeful availment.

Candance Noll and her husband<sup>2</sup> sued over twenty defendants, including Special Electric, for injuries Mr. Noll sustained from asbestos exposure in Washington. CP 1-5. The trial court (Judge Ramsdell) granted Special Electric's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. CP 252-53, 408-09. After settling with the other defendants, Noll appealed the dismissal of the claims against Special Electric, and the Court of Appeals reversed. *Noll*, 188 Wn. App. at 583.

This Court granted review and reversed the Court of Appeals. It reinstated the dismissal but remanded to allow Noll to address whether personal jurisdiction existed under *LG Electronics* and recently disclosed evidence of Special Electric's contacts in Washington. *Noll*, 188 Wn.2d at 405, 416. On remand, the parties agreed that the trial court (still Judge Ramsdell) should hold an evidentiary hearing under CR 12(d). Noll submitted only documentary evidence to show purposeful availment.

The fact dispute before Judge Ramsdell hinged on the scope of the "West Coast" or "West" market referenced in CertainTeed's corporate documents, which evidenced facts Special Electric knew about CertainTeed's business when Special Electric began selling asbestos for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Noll was alive when the first appeal was filed. He later died, and his wife was substituted as the personal representative of his estate. In this petition, references to "Noll" encompass both Mrs. Noll's claims as the personal representative of her husband's estate's injuries and her claims as the estate's beneficiary.

CertainTeed to incorporate into asbestos-cement pipe at its Santa Clara, California plant. RP (12/11/17) 12-14, 16, 34-44, 58-59, 74, 78-79; CP 735, 1046-48, 1052, 1075-77, 1088-89, 1418-19. It was this pipe that CertainTeed distributed into Washington and that allegedly caused Mr. Noll's exposure to asbestos supplied by Special Electric.<sup>3</sup>

Based on the location of CertainTeed's plants and sales offices, Special Electric agreed that it knew about five CertainTeed regional markets for asbestos-cement pipe: a "West Coast" or "West" market (California, Arizona); a Southwest market (Texas, Louisiana); a Southeast market (Georgia); and Midwest and Mid-Atlantic markets (Missouri, Ohio, Pennsylvania). CP 1075-76. Special Electric argued that the evidence most reasonably showed that, when it began selling asbestos to the Santa Clara plant, the "West Coast" or the "West" market for CertainTeed's asbestos-cement pipe did not extend to Washington. RP (12/11/17) 34-44, 54-55, 74, 78-79; CP 735, 1075-76, 1089-90, 1094. Noll argued that the "West Coast" or the "West" market references in CertainTeed's documents necessarily extended Washington. RP (12/11/17) 14, 16, 58-59; CP 735, 1046-48, 1052, 1418-19.

Judge Ramsdell concluded that Noll's evidence was insufficient to establish purposeful availment. CP 1709-10.<sup>4</sup>

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As it has throughout this litigation, Special Electric concedes strictly for purposes of this personal-jurisdiction dispute that it, rather than separate corporate entities bearing the "Special" name, supplied the asbestos at issue here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Special Electric's counsel was not notified of this order until they were served with Noll's notice of appeal. CP 1889-98. By then, the fifteen-day period in which Special Electric could have proposed findings of fact had expired. *See* CR 52; CR 54(e).

# B. The Court of Appeals remanded for the trial court to make findings supporting its conclusion of no purposeful availment.

The Court of Appeals determined that it could not review the merits of Judge Ramsdell's decision absent factual findings. Retaining jurisdiction, the court remanded for entry of factual findings to support the legal conclusion that Noll had failed to prove purposeful availment:

Because we cannot discern the reasoning or underlying facts *supporting the decision* to deny personal jurisdiction against Special Electric, we remand this case for findings of fact.

Because we have no reliable indication of the facts as the trial court understood them, we remand this case for separate findings of fact.

On remand, we direct the trial court to make findings on the following issues in order to answer the questions presented in *LG Electronics* and *Noll*, as well as any other *findings of fact that support its decision*[.]

*Noll*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 319, 323 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals plainly contemplated that Judge Ramsdell would provide the requested findings. Although Judge Ramsdell had since retired from the bench and become a private mediator and arbitrator, the Washington Constitution "entitled" him to resume his role as judge through a pro-tem appointment. Const. art. IV, § 7.

C. The Chief Civil Judge for King County Superior Court denied the parties' joint request to appoint Judge Ramsdell as a protem judge to preside over the limited remand proceeding, choosing instead to assign the proceeding to Judge Ramsdell's successor, Judge Michael Scott.

After receiving the Court of Appeals' decision, the parties' counsel jointly wrote to both the chief civil judge for King County Superior Court

(Hon. Julie Spector) and Judge Ramsdell, requesting that Judge Ramsdell be appointed judge pro tempore to preside over the limited remand proceeding.<sup>5</sup> The chief civil judge instead assigned the matter to Judge Michael Scott, who had succeeded to Judge Ramsdell's department.<sup>6</sup>

D. Judge Scott concluded that the only reasonable reading of the evidence was that Special Electric knew that the asbestos it was selling to CertainTeed in California was ending up in asbestoscement pipe that CertainTeed distributed into Washington.

Judge Scott stated at a pre-hearing conference that he "underst[oo]d" that his remand authority was limited to entering "findings of fact in support of the decision that was entered by Judge Ramsdell." CP 1886. But at that hearing, Judge Scott announced that he now believed he was free to independently review the paper record and determine whether it showed that Noll had established the facts necessary to exercise personal jurisdiction over Special Electric. RP (9/6/19) 31-34.

The findings Judge Scott entered went so far as to attack the reasonableness of Judge Ramsdell's evaluation of the evidence.<sup>8</sup> CP 1994. He ultimately concluded that the record could reasonably be read only one way, and that this reading supported a conclusion—contrary to Judge

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Decl. of Michael B. King ISO Motion for Clarification of Remand Directive (Court of Appeals file), Ex. A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A few days later, Judge Spector sua sponte entered an order stating, without explanation, that it would be "impractical and not possible for Judge Ramsdell to hear the matter." CP 1796-97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Special Electric promptly asked the Court of Appeals to clarify its remand directives and reassign the remand proceeding to Judge Ramsdell. That motion was denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Judge Scott's findings were almost a verbatim cut-and-paste of Noll's proposed findings. *Compare* CP 1834-48 *with* CP 1978-95; *see also* App. A to Special Electric's Supp. Brief Following Limited Remand Proceeding (Court of Appeals file) (attaching an illustrative table comparing Noll's proposed findings with Judge Scott's findings).

Ramsdell's conclusion—that Special Electric purposefully availed itself of the benefits of doing business in Washington. CP 1990-91, 1994.

E. A divided Court of Appeals reversed Judge Ramsdell's dismissal order. The majority deferred to Judge Scott's findings of fact, concluding that they established the factual predicate for personal jurisdiction over Special Electric. The dissent (Hon. James Verellen) refused to defer to Judge Scott's findings and concluded, after a de novo review of the record that was before Judge Ramsdell, that Noll had failed to prove purposeful availment.

A bare majority of the Court of Appeals reversed Judge Ramsdell's dismissal order. The majority relied on Judge Scott's findings and applied a substantial-evidence review to conclude that personal jurisdiction exists over Special Electric. *Decision* at 6-7, 11-14. In doing so, it adopted for the first time in Washington an awareness test to establish purposeful availment in stream-of-commerce cases. *Id.* at 11.

Judge Verellen dissented. Under the "unusual circumstances" presented, he independently reviewed the paper record de novo and did not defer to Judge Scott's findings. *Id.* at 15, 18 (citing the "long line of cases" permitting "de novo review of documentary evidence . . . even where a trial court has made findings"). He concluded that the evidence does not show Special Electric was aware its asbestos was being used by CertainTeed to construct pipe for distribution in Washington. *Id.* at 19.

# V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should grant review to decide three issues.

First, this Court should grant review to resolve conflicting lines of authority and declare a standard of review of discretionary decisions and findings of fact under which the mere fact that the trial court made its decision on a paper record makes no difference. Absent special circumstances, those decisions should receive deference under the abuse-of-discretion and substantial-evidence standards of review.

Second, this Court should grant review to recognize that one of the special circumstances where deference is inappropriate is when a replacement judge assigned on remand has presumed to reweigh the evidence and find that no reasonable judge could conclude as the original judge did. Under these special circumstances, this Court should hold that the reviewing court should reweigh the evidence de novo to determine if the record reasonably supports the original judge's conclusion.

Third, this Court should grant review to decide the proper standard for establishing purposeful availment in light of *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court of California, San Francisco County*, \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 198 L. Ed. 2d 395 (2017), which was issued after this Court decided both *LG Electronics* and *Noll*. In *Bristol-Myers Squibb*, the Supreme Court of the United States squarely revived federalism as a due-process limitation on a state court's exercise of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant. This limitation compels the conclusion that a nonresident defendant must target the forum state to satisfy purposeful availment. Because Noll has not shown that Special Electric targeted Washington as a market for its asbestos, this Court ultimately should reinstate the dismissal of Noll's claims.

A. This Court should grant review to decide whether an appellate court may review a discretionary decision or a finding of fact de novo, merely because the decision was made on a paper-only record without hearing live testimony.

Standards of review are fundamental to the relationship between appellate and trial courts. They are best understood as allocations of decisional authority between trial and appellate courts. HARRY T. EDWARDS & LINDA A. ELLIOT, FEDERAL COURTS STANDARDS OF REVIEW 3-4 (2007). The particular standard reflects the degree of deference afforded a trial-court decision. Sound principles of institutional policy dictate deferential review of discretionary decisions. J. Jonas Anderson, *Specialized Standards of Review*, 18 STAN. TECH. L. REV. 151, 157 (2014). Trial courts are in a better position to make the discretionary decisions involved in resolving fact-bound disputes. It is thus appropriate that appellate courts presumptively defer to these decisions.

Most trial-court decisions will ineluctably be based on a so-called "paper only" record for the simple, pragmatic reason that they do not require and rarely involve live testimony. Washington appellate courts regularly review these decisions under the deferential abuse-of-discretion standard. All of these decisions are committed to a trial court's discretion because they do not involve a single right or wrong answer. *See Wheat v. United States*, 486 U.S. 153, 164, 108 S. Ct. 1692, 100 L. Ed. 2d 140 (1988); *State v. Sisouvanh*, 175 Wn.2d 607, 623, 290 P.3d 942 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See App. B (listing discretionary decisions based on a paper record that have been reviewed only for abuse of discretion).

The trial court is thus empowered to make a decision that falls within a range of "acceptable choices." *Sisouvanh*, 175 Wn.2d at 623.

Even so, Washington appellate courts will sometimes presume to review discretionary decisions de novo—merely because the decision was based on a paper record. See Eussen v. Parker, No. 49722-1, 2018 WL 333317, at \*3 (2018) (unpublished, nonbinding authority under GR 14.1) ("This rule has led some courts to state that '[d]ecisions based on declarations, affidavits, and written documents are reviewed de novo.") (emphasis added). 10 De novo review of discretionary decisions based on paper records can be traced back to this Court's decision in State ex rel. Pacific Fruit & Produce Co. v. Superior Court, 22 Wn.2d 327, 331-32, 155 P.2d 1005 (1945) (reviewing de novo a trial court's decision denying a motion to dismiss for want of prosecution). Similarly, and despite this Court's landmark decision in Thorndike v. Hesperian Orchards, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 570, 343 P.2d 183 (1959), which should have consigned de novo review of findings of fact to the judicial graveyard, the mantra about de novo review of a decision because the record is "paper only" has also from time to time been applied to review of findings of fact.<sup>11</sup>

Within the last decade, this Court created an exception to de novo review of findings of fact based on paper-only records for cases involving

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See, e.g., Bryant v. Joseph Tree, Inc., 119 Wn.2d 210, 222-23, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992); Smith v. Skagit County, 75 Wn.2d 715, 718, 453 P.2d 832 (1969); Carlson v. City of Bellevue, 73 Wn.2d 41, 48, 435 P.2d 957 (1968).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See, e.g., Service Employees International Union Local 925 v. Univ. of Wash., 193
Wn.2d 860, 866, 447 P.3d 534 (2019); State v. Thetford, 109 Wn.2d 392, 396-97, 745
P.2d 496 (1987); Jenkins v. Snohomish Cty. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1, 105 Wn.2d 99, 102, 713 P.2d 79 (1986).

what this Court called "voluminous" or "complex" paper records. *Dolan* v. *King County*, 172 Wn.2d 299, 310-11, 258 P.3d 20 (2011). Some Washington appellate courts have since applied *Dolan* to review discretionary decisions for an abuse of discretion. Yet determining when a record is sufficiently "complex" or "voluminous" to affect the standard of review has led to ad-hoc applications of the standards of review, with no organizing principle that guides our courts in making these choices. <sup>13</sup>

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