# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/18/2020 11:11 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98979-6

(COA NO. 77888-9-I)

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CANDANCE NOLL, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Donald Noll, Deceased,

Appellants,

v.

#### SPECIAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, INC.,

Respondent-Petitioner,
American Biltrite, Inc., et al.,
Defendants.

#### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

BRIAN D. WEINSTEIN ALEXANDRA B. CAGGIANO PHILLIP A. CHU 600 University Street, Suite 1620 Seattle, Washington 98101 Telephone: (206) 508-7070 Facsimile: (206) 237-8650

II.	STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	REASONS THAT REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED7
A.	This Case Does Not Present the Issue of Whether an Appellate Court May Review <i>De Novo</i> a Discretionary Decision or Findings of Fact That were Made on A Documentary Record without Live Testimony
В.	The Court of Appeals Followed Settled Law When It Reviewed Judge Scott's Findings for Substantial Evidence Then Reviewed the Decision on Personal Jurisdiction <i>De Novo</i>
C.	Targeting Is Not The Standard15
V.	CONCLUSION

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

#### **Prior Decisions**

Noll v. Amer. Biltrite Inc., 188 Wn.2d 402 (2017) (Noll I)
Noll v. Special Electric Co., 9 Wn. App. 2d 317 (Div. 1 2019) (Noll II (2019))
Noll v. Special Electric Co., Wn.App, 471 P.3d 247 (Div. 1 2020) (Noll II (2020))1, 5, 8, 13, 14
Washington State Cases
Carkonen v. Columbia & P.S.R. Co., 102 Wn. 11 (1918)
DGHI, Enterprises v. Pacific Cities, Inc., 137 Wn.2d 933 (1999)
Garcia v. Henley, 190 Wn.2d 539 (2018)
Grill v. Meydenbauer Bay Yacht Club, 57 Wn.2d 800 (1961)9
LG Electronics, Inc., State v., 186 Wn.2d 169 (2016)
Old Windmill Ranch v. Smotherman, 69 Wn.2d 383 (1966)
Peoples Bank & Trust Co. v. Carlson,         195 Wn. 285 (1938)
Shephard v. Gove, 26 Wn. 452 (1901)
Teter v. Dick, 174 Wn.2d 207 (2012)

#### **Other States and Federal**

Asahi Metal Industry Co. v. Superior Court, 480 U.S. 102 (1987)18
Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court of Cal., U.S, 137 S.Ct. 1773 (2017)
Fidrych v. Marriott International, Inc., 952 F.3d 124 (4th Cir. 2020)17
Ford Motor Co. v. Bandemer, cert. granted 2020 WL 254152 (U.S. S.Ct. 1/17/2020)
Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, cert. granted 2020 WL 254155 (U.S. S.Ct. 1/17/2020)
Ford Motor Co. v. Montana Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 443 P.3d 407 (Mont. 2019)
J. McIntyre Machinery v. Nicastro, 564 U.S. 873 (2011)
Lindsley v. American Honda Motor Co., 2017 WL 3217140 (E.D. Pa., July 28, 2017)16
Old Republic Ins. Co. v. Continental Motors, Inc., 877 F.3d 895 (10th Cir. 2017)17
Shuker v. Smith & Nephew, PLC, 885 F.3d 760 (3rd Cir. 2018)
Tarver v. Ford Motor Co., 2017 WL 3527710 (W.D. Okla. Aug. 16, 2017)16
Thomas v. Ford Motor Co., 289 F.Supp.3d 941 (E.D. Wis. 2017)16
Thomas v. Kellogg Co., 2017 WI 5256634 (W.D. Wash, Oct. 17, 2017)

17
9, 12
1
13
19

#### **INDEX TO APPENDIX**

- **Appendix 1**: *Excerpt from* Special Electric Co., Inc.'s Supplemental Briefing Following Limited Remand Proceeding
- **Appendix 2**: Resp. Special Electric Co., Inc.'s Motion for Clarification of Remand Directive under RAP 8.3 and RAP 7.3
- **Appendix 3**: Order Denying Motion for Clarification of Remand Directive under RAP 8.3 and RAP 7.3

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Special Electric Company—Defendant below, Respondent in the Court of Appeals—petitions this Court to grant discretionary review of the decision reported at *Noll v. Special Electric Co.*, --Wn.App.--, 471 P.3d 247 (Div. 1 2020) (*Noll II* (2020)). Candance Noll—Plaintiff below, Appellant in the Court of Appeals—respectfully submits that said *Petition for Leave to Appeal* should be denied because none of the conditions in RAP 13.4(b) are met. Special does not contend that the appellate decision here conflicts with any other decision of the Court of Appeals or of this Court. It fails to show that this case involves any significant issue of public interest in need of clarification. Indeed, far from seeking to clarify unsettled law, Special's *Petition* really asks this Court to change settled law by (1) imposing new procedures for how matters in which a successor judge participated should be reviewed and/or (2) adopting the previously and repeatedly rejected "targeting" standard for stream-of-commerce personal jurisdiction.

The appellate majority here acted well within the bounds of established law and procedure in reaching its decision. It reviewed the trial court's findings of fact for substantial evidence, applied the more demanding "awareness / actual knowledge" standard to those facts, and correctly determined that Mrs. Noll proved that Special purposefully availed itself of the privileges and protections of Washington law. Special

does not raise as a basis for review (and has never asserted) that Judge Michael Scott's factual findings *as the trial court* are not supported by substantial evidence. In supplemental briefing to the Court of Appeals, Special even expressly conceded that those findings establish purposeful availment. *See* Noll Appx. 1, *SEC Suppl. Br.*, pp. 1–2.

Respectfully, there is no need to review this matter any further.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- (1) Special asks this Court to overrule the line of decisions giving appellate courts the option to review findings of fact *de novo*, rather than for substantial evidence, where the record is entirely documentary. In the case at bar, the Court of Appeals acknowledged that such option existed but declined to exercise it. Any decision by this Court on that issue would have no effect on the outcome here and would be a mere advisory opinion.
- (2) Special ostensibly seeks review of the proper method for reviewing a successor judge's factual findings. It actually wants this Court to adopt a curious method of review of Special's invention—which would involve rejecting successor Judge Scott's *findings* and then deferring to predecessor Judge Jeffrey Ramsdell's bare *decision* under some quasi-abuse-of-discretion standard of review. Adopting such unprecedented proposal would require multiple radical departures from settled law.

(3) Special's only substantive point is its strained assertion that *Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court of Cal.*, -- U.S. --, 137 S.Ct. 1773 (2017) somehow revives "targeting" as the standard for proving purposeful availment in stream-of-commerce cases. *Bristol-Myers* was not a stream-of-commerce case, involved relatedness not purposeful availment, and does not use the term "targeting" anywhere. This Court has consistently rejected targeting as the standard including in its prior decision in this case.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the first appeal, this Court returned the matter to the Superior Court for further consideration in light of *State v. LG Electronics, Inc.*, 186 Wn.2d 169 (2016) and because Plaintiff had not sufficiently "alleged" purposeful availment. *See Noll v. Amer. Biltrite Inc.*, 188 Wn.2d 402 (2017) (*Noll I*). It declined to "preclude the trial court from making its own finding of jurisdiction on remand depending on the allegations that plaintiff then raises." *Id.* at 406. The parties agreed to have personal jurisdiction decided on the evidence rather than the pleadings. CP 1045. Following an evidentiary hearing, Judge Ramsdell again dismissed the case for lack of personal jurisdiction. CP 1704–05. Without making findings of fact or explaining his reasoning, Judge Ramsdell briefly stated: "The evidence presented by Plaintiff is insufficient to establish that Special to purposefully avail itself of the benefits and protections of the Washington market...." *Id.* 

Mrs. Noll appealed again. CP 1706–10. "Because [it] ha[d] no reliable indication of the facts as the trial court understood them, [the Court of Appeals] remand[ed] this case for separate findings of fact," directing "the trial court...to answer [specific] questions." *Noll v. Special Electric Co.*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 317, 323–24, ¶¶ 10, 12, 13 (Div. 1 2019) (*Noll II* (2019)). The court rejected Mrs. Noll's argument that, because there were no findings to review and the record was entirely documentary, it should determine the facts *de novo. See Id.* at 321, ¶ 7 (declining "act as initial fact-finders"). It also rejected Special's invitation to speculate as to findings that Judge Ramsdell might have made or simply defer to his decision. *See id.* at 323, ¶ 12 ("[g]iven the record, we can only speculate as to what test the trial court decided to apply[;] [w]e will not infer facts based on speculation"). Neither party sought leave from this Court to appeal *Noll II* (2019).

Because Judge Ramsdell had retired, the task of making findings on limited remand fell to his successor, Judge Scott. Special's insistence that it did not know how Judge Scott intended to proceed until the September 2019 hearing is fiction. Judge Scott explained his understanding of his task at the July pre-hearing conference: "the [appellate] court has asked the trial court to act as the initial fact finder, which is what I intend to do based on the record that was submitted to Judge Ramsdell ... I'm not going to try to channel him ... I'm going to...make the factual findings that I think are

appropriate based on the record in front of me." TR 24. Special understood well enough at that time to disagree with Judge Scott and threaten to "soon" file a motion with the Court of Appeals. TR 25–26.

Contrary to its claim that it acted "promptly" to seek intervention from the Court of Appeals (*PLA* at p. 7, n. 7), Special waited two months until after the hearing was held to do so. It then moved the Court of Appeals to either (1) compel appointing retired Judge Ramsdell to serve *pro tempore*, or (2) direct sitting Judge Scott to enter findings based on speculation as to what Judge Ramsdell might have done. Noll Appx. 2, *SEC Mot. for Clarif. of Remand Directive*. The Court of Appeals "denied [that motion] with prejudice" and directed the parties to submit supplemental briefs as to whether or not Judge Scott exceeded his authority. Noll Appx. 3, *Order of 10/11/2020*. Neither the majority nor the dissent concluded that Judge Scott did so or violated any that that court's directives for the limited remand. *See Noll II* (2020), 471 P.3d 247.

Judge Scott issued *Amended Draft Findings of Fact* on September 20, 2019. CP 1947–63. Special did not object that any finding or the findings as a whole were not supported by substantial evidence. CP 1971–75. Its only objection was that the court's findings "undermine[d] Judge Ramsdell's decision." CP 1971. Judge Scott issued his final factual findings on October 7. CP 1978–95. Special subsequently conceded in its

supplemental brief to the Court of Appeals that those findings establish purposeful availment. Noll Appx. 1, pp. 1–2 (Judge Scott's findings, if accepted, "compel the conclusion that [Mrs.] Noll did establish purposeful availment").

Judge Scott did not, as Special inaccurately contends, "attack the reasonableness of Judge Ramsdell's evaluation of the evidence." *PLA* at p. 7. Indeed, Special's accusations in that regard were so persistent that Judge Scott was compelled to respond in footnote 7 of his *Findings*:

Contrary to Special's insinuations, the court has great respect for Judge Ramsdell and is proud to follow in his footsteps as a judge in Department 9.... Not that Judge Ramsdell was careless—rather, as persuasive as Special's so-called "deconstruction"...may have seemed at oral argument, it does not withstand scrutiny.

CP 1994.

Likewise, Judge Scott did not "conclude[] that the record could reasonably be read only one way." *PLA* at p. 7. Indeed, he made clear that he could not approach the record in such manner because he was acting as a neutral fact finder, not ruling on a summary judgment. TR 33. What Judge Scott addresses in ¶ 40 of the court's *Findings* as "strained, not supported by any evidence, and unreasonable" are not implied findings by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Because the matter before him was "not a summary judgment motion [but] an evidentiary hearing," Judge Scott rejected Mrs. Noll's position that he was to draw inferences in her favor. TR 33 ("my inferences, I believe, need to be neutral and reasonable…I'm taking a neutral and balanced view of the record").

Judge Ramsdell, but Special's assertion that CertainTeed's 'West Coast' market was limited to California and Arizona:

Special takes a particularly strong exception to this finding...However, Special has not cited to *any* evidence in the record to support its vociferous contention that CertainTeed's "West Coast" or "West" market was limited to California and Arizona. Instead, Special repeatedly cites to arguments of counsel... [which] are not evidence.

CP 1992.

#### IV. REASONS THAT REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Atypical circumstances do not lend themselves to providing generally applicable guidance. The parties, the majority and the dissent agree that this case involves some unusual circumstances, which weighs against further review by this Court. That is especially true where, as here, Special seeks to change the law, not clarify it.

There was no single "required way" to handle the procedural situation here. There were options, and the path chosen by the Court of Appeals falls within allowable choices under established law. That court certainly had the option to direct the limited remand as it did. *See Garcia v. Henley*, 190 Wn.2d 539 (2018). Alternatively, it could have vacated Judge Ramsdell's inadequately explained ruling and remanded for complete reconsideration. *See Old Windmill Ranch v. Smotherman*, 69 Wn.2d 383, 390–91 (1966). It might have reviewed the evidence *de novo* in the first place, although it

elected to not do so. At every step, the Court of Appeals employed the accepted standards and methods of review consistent with what was (or was not) before it. What that court could not do—and did not do—was speculate as to nonexistent factual findings by Judge Ramsdell or just defer to his unexplained, non-discretionary decision as Special would have it.

A. This Case Does Not Present the Issue of Whether an Appellate Court May Review De Novo a Discretionary Decision or Findings of Fact That were Made on a Documentary Record without Live Testimony

The issue of whether or not a paper-only record gives appellate courts the option to review findings of fact *de novo* is not presented here. The panel did not review any findings of fact *de novo* on that (or any other) basis. Mrs. Noll initially sought *de novo* review because there were no findings to review and the record was only documentary. The Court of Appeals, although acknowledging the option to do so, declined to act as the initial fact-finder. *See Noll II* (2019), 9 Wn. App. 2d at 321, ¶ 7. Instead, it ordered the limited remand for the trial court to make findings. *See id.* at 323, ¶ 10. Following remand, the panel majority reviewed Judge Scott's findings for substantial evidence, not *de novo*. *Noll II* (2020), 417 P.3d at 255, ¶ 19.

This Court should not undertake to review the status of an option to substantial-evidence review that the Court of Appeals did not exercise. Mrs. Noll's initial request for *de novo* review was based as much on the lack of any findings to be reviewed as it was upon the documentary nature of the

record. Thus, the issue for which Special seeks leave to appeal—whether a paper-only record by itself allows for *de novo* review—was neither relied-upon nor even clearly presented below. Whatever decision this Court might make would not change the outcome here. Abrogating the option to review facts *de novo* on a paper-only record would make no difference because the Court of Appeals did not do so. Upholding the viability of that exception would make no difference because (as it has been applied) the exception is optional not mandatory. This Court does "not give advisory opinions" simply to comment in the abstract on an appellate panel's statement that it had the option to do something that it elected not to do. *Grill v. Meydenbauer Bay Yacht Club*, 57 Wn.2d 800, 805 (1961).

The question of how discretionary decisions may or must be reviewed on appeal is not and never has been presented in this case because the existence of personal jurisdiction is not a matter of discretion.<sup>2</sup> See LG Electronics, 186 Wn.2d at 176. Abuse-of-discretion (which applies to discretionary decisions) is not identical to substantial-evidence review (which applies to findings of fact). See, e.g., Zervos v. Verizon New York, Inc., 252 F.3d 163, 168 (2d Cir. 2001). The Court of Appeals consistently

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Conspicuously absent from Special's string cite of cases involving abuse-of-discretion review in its Appx. B is any case involving personal jurisdiction.

and properly rejected Special's insistence that it actually or tacitly review Judge Ramsdell's decision merely for abuse of discretion.

B. The Court of Appeals Followed Settled Law When It Reviewed Judge Scott's Findings for Substantial Evidence Then Reviewed the Decision on Personal Jurisdiction *De Novo*

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